IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA PREME COURT FILED Case No. S248730 THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF OCT 04 2018 CALIFORNIA,) Jorge Navarrete Clerk Court of Appeal) No. E060438 Plaintiff-Respondent, Deputy San Bernardino County Case v. No. FVI901482 JOSE LUIS PEREZ et al., Defendants-Appellants. APPEAL FROM SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT HONORABLE JOHN M. TOMBERLIN, TRIAL JUDGE

APPELLANT CHAVEZ'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

REBECCA P. JONES, Esq. California Bar No. 163313 3549 Camino del Rio S., Suite D San Diego, CA 92108 (619) 269-7872

Attorney for Petitioner CHAVEZ Appointed by the Court of Appeal under Appellate Defenders, Inc. Independent Case Program

QUESTION PRESENTED

Did defendant's failure to object at trial, before *People v. Sanchez* (2016) 63 Cal.4th 665 was decided, forfeit his claim that a gang expert's testimony related case-specific hearsay in violation of his Sixth Amendment right of confrontation?

INTRODUCTION

The contemporaneous objection rule serves important functions: It brings possible error to the trial judge's attention, giving the court and the litigants the opportunity to explore the issue and decide whether and how the evidentiary presentations should be adjusted in light of the objection; and it minimizes the likelihood of protracted litigation and possible retrial based on errors that could have been corrected at trial had they been brought to the court's attention. The rule only serves these purposes, however, if the trial

court applies controlling law under this Court's definition of stare decisis.

This case presents the question of whether trial counsel must object to evidence that is admissible under precedent controlling at the time of the defendant's trial, to preserve a claim for appeal that will be viable only if this Court overrules that precedent at some point in the future. This Court should find its precedents have never required counsel to object based on future changes in the law and that any such rule would be unworkable and unfair. It should reverse the judgment of the Court of Appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In October 2013, nearly three years before this Court decided *People* v. Sanchez, supra, Mr. Chavez was convicted by a jury of two counts of special circumstance murder, kidnapping, and attempted murder related to the kidnappings and deaths of two men and the kidnapping and attempted murder of a third in the San Bernardino high desert. He is serving multiple terms of life without the possibility of parole and remains in custody pending resolution of this appeal.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In June 2009, a group of men alleged to have ties to the Sinaloa drug cartel kidnapped and murdered two men and nearly killed a third. Edgar Ivan Chavez Navarro was alleged to have participated in the crimes.

The prosecution's theory was that an uncharged co-conspirator, Max, owed drug money to two of the victims and that he orchestrated the kidnappings and murders to get rid of the debt. The prosecution alleged that the crimes were gang-related and that the gang involved was the Sinaloa drug cartel.

The prosecution's gang expert had minimal prior experience with the Sinaloa cartel but was able to testify about its activities and prior crimes by reading reports, reviewing interviews of suspects that were conducted by other officers, and reading magazine articles and internet items about the cartel. He testified about his research to the jury.

Most of the expert's testimony about the cartel conveyed hearsay to jurors about the cartel's activities and purposes.

Mr. Chavez's counsel did not make a confrontation clause objection to the testimony. On appeal, Mr. Chavez challenged the admission of hearsay through the gang expert, based on this Court's decision in *People v. Sanchez* (2016) 64 Cal.4th 665, but the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, Division Two, found the argument forfeited. (*People v. Perez* (2018) 22 Cal.App.5th 201, 211-212.)

The Court of Appeal reasoned that competent trial counsel would have known to make a confrontation clause objection to the expert's testimony

S.Ct. 2221], five justices of the U.S. Supreme Court agreed that when a witness repeats an out of court statement as a basis for the witness's opinion, the out-of-court statement necessarily is being offered for its truth, and (2) in *People v. Dungo* (2012) 55 Cal.4th 608, six justices of this Court agreed that hearsay basis testimony related by a testifying expert is necessarily offered for its truth. (*Perez, supra*, 22 Cal.App.5th at pp. 208-210.) The Court of Appeal also pointed out that in May 2013, *People v. Mercado* (2013) 216 Cal.App.4th 67, 89 fn. 6, had identified *Williams* and *Dungo* as accepting the idea that out-of-court statements admitted as basis evidence during expert testimony are admitted for their truth if treated as factual by the expert.

The *Perez* court then concluded:

Admittedly, *Williams*, *Dungo*, and *Mercado* did not anticipate the distinction that *Sanchez* ultimately drew between case-specific and non-case-specific hearsay. If anything, they suggested that *any* hearsay that is offered as the basis for an expert's opinion testimony is necessarily offered for its truth. Thus, they alerted competent and knowledgeable counsel to the need to object to such evidence on hearsay and *Crawford* grounds. They also meant that such objections would not have

been futile.

(Perez, 22 Cal.App.5th at pp. 211-212, emphasis in original.)

This Court granted review to examine this holding. It also has granted review in *People v. Blessett* (2018) 22 Cal.App.5th 903, review granted 8/8/2018 (S249250), on the same issue.

ARGUMENT

SANCHEZ CLAIMS ARISING FROM TRIALS HELD BEFORE THAT CASE WAS DECIDED ARE COGNIZABLE WITHOUT AN OBJECTION IN THE TRIAL COURT BECAUSE AN OBJECTION DURING TRIAL WOULD HAVE BEEN FUTILE

California law requires a timely and specific objection to the admission of evidence before an appellate court may reverse a judgment based on the erroneous admission of that evidence. (Evid. Code, § 353, subd. (a).)¹ Failure to comply with this rule forfeits the argument on appeal. (E.g., *People v. Farnam* (2002) 28 Cal.4th 107, 159.)

The purposes of this contemporaneous objection rule are twofold: (1) to permit the proponent of the evidence to prove or explain why the evidence is admissible and (2) to let the trial court address the possible evidentiary error

¹ This statute states in relevant part, "A verdict or finding shall not be set aside, nor shall the judgment or decision based thereon be reversed, by reason of the erroneous admission of evidence unless: (a) There appears of record an objection to or a motion to exclude or to strike the evidence that was timely made and so stated as to make clear the specific ground of the objection or motion."

before judgment is entered.² (*People v. Anderson* (2018) 5 Cal.5th 372, 403.) "It is both unfair and inefficient to permit a claim of error on appeal that, if timely brought to the attention of the trial court, could have been easily corrected or avoided. [Citations.]" (*People v. Vera* (1997) 15 Cal.4th 269, 276.) The purposes of the contemporaneous objection rule presuppose that all the parties and the court know the law governing the admission of the evidence in question. Neither of these purposes requires the parties to make futile objections in the face of controlling law or contemplates that they will burden the court by making futile objections. (*Moradi-Shalal v. Fireman's Fund Ins. Companies* (1988) 46 Cal.3d 287, 292, fn. 1 ["it was pointless for defendant to ask either the trial or appellate court to overrule one of our decisions"].)

Appellate courts have excused a failure to object when the record shows an objection would have been futile, either because controlling law would have required an adverse ruling or because the trial court's other rulings in the case

² "To consider on appeal a defendant's claims of error that were not objected to at trial 'would deprive the People of the opportunity to cure the defect at trial and would "permit the defendant to gamble on an acquittal at his trial secure in the knowledge that a conviction would be reversed on appeal."" (In re Seaton (2004) 34 Cal.4th 193, 198. See also People v. Scott (1994) 9 Cal.4th 331, 353 [by enforcing a forfeiture rule, courts "hope to reduce the number of errors committed in the first instance and preserve the judicial resources otherwise used to correct them"].)

made clear that it would not rule in the objector's favor.³ This Court explained in *People v. Welch* (1993) 5 Cal.4th 228, 237-238:

Reviewing courts have traditionally excused parties for failing to raise an issue at trial where an objection would have been futile or wholly unsupported by substantive law then in existence. [Citations.] By the same token, defendant should not be penalized for failing to object where existing law overwhelmingly said no such objection was required.

Mr. Chavez relied on this exception to ask that the Court of Appeal rule on his *Sanchez* confrontation clause claim, because in October 2013 – the time of his trial – controlling California precedent held that experts could testify about the facts supporting their opinions, because that information was not being offered for the truth but merely to explain the basis for the expert's opinions. (See, e.g., *People v. Gardeley* (1996) 14 Cal.4th 605, 618; CALCRIM 360 [directing jurors not to consider hearsay statements relied on by an expert "as proof that the information contained in the statement[s] is true"].)

The Court of Appeal rejected Mr. Chavez's attempt to invoke the

³ For example, "after a trial court repeatedly overrules objections, counsel may reasonably conclude further objections would be futile." (See *People v. Gray* (2005) 37 Cal.4th 168, 207-208.)

futility exception based on its belief that competent counsel would have foreseen that this Court was going to rule that basis evidence related by experts to support their opinions is necessarily offered for its truth, which it did in *People v. Sanchez* (2016) 63 Cal.4th 665. But the contemporaneous objection rule has never required counsel to foresee changes in the law, and any case law purporting to require such premonition misconstrues this Court's precedents. Furthermore, any rule requiring trial counsel to object based on foreseeable changes in the law would be unworkable, would waste judicial resources, and would open the door to unnecessary ineffective assistance of counsel litigation.

This Court should reverse the judgment of the Court of Appeal and find the confrontation clause objection was not forfeited.

A. A confrontation clause objection to the expert's testimony in October 2013 would have been futile under this Court's controlling precedents.

At the time of Mr. Chavez's 2013 trial, this Court's controlling case on the admission of hearsay through a gang expert was *People v. Gardeley* (1996) 14 Cal.4th 605. Although *Gardeley* was not a confrontation clause case, it did address whether a gang expert's opinion could constitute substantial evidence proving gang allegations under Penal Code section 186.22 if it was based on otherwise inadmissible hearsay. This Court found the expert testimony could be sufficient to prove the gang allegations, even if independent witnesses did

not testify to the facts underlying the expert's opinion.

The *Gardeley* court cited case law, statutes and treatises dating back as far as 1895 to support the proposition that experts could testify to the bases of their opinions, even if that information normally would be inadmissible under the hearsay rule. (*Gardeley*, *supra*, at pp. 617-619.) *Gardeley* explained that this longstanding and well-accepted rule did not violate the ban on hearsay because the basis for an expert's opinion was being admitted to explain the opinion and not for the truth of the matter. (*Ibid.*)

Eight years after this Court decided *Gardeley*, the U.S. Supreme Court issued its opinion in *Crawford v. Washington* (2004) 541 U.S. 36 [158 L.Ed.2d 177, 124 S.Ct. 1354], creating a "sweeping change" in the way courts treated hearsay and the confrontation clause. (*People v. Penunuri* (2018) 5 Cal.5th 126, 151.) *Crawford* held that admission of testimonial hearsay violated the confrontation clause. Neither the U.S. Supreme Court nor the California courts immediately applied *Crawford* to out-of-court statements presented during expert testimony, however.

Thus, after *Crawford*, numerous published California cases continued to rely on *Gardeley* to reject confrontation clause challenges to gang expert testimony. (See, e.g., *People v. Hill* (2011) 191 Cal.App.4th 1104, 1127–1128; *People v. Sisneros* (2009) 174 Cal.App.4th 142, 153–154; *People v. Ramirez*

(2007) 153 Cal.App.4th 1422, 1426–1427; People v. Cooper (2007) 148 Cal.App.4th 731, 746–747; People v. Fulcher (2006) 136 Cal.App.4th 41, 57; People v. Thomas (2005) 130 Cal. App. 4th 1202, 1209–1210.) Thomas, one of the California first opinions decided after Crawford, squarely held that Crawford "does not undermine the established rule that experts can testify to their opinions on relevant matters, and relate the information and sources upon which they rely in forming those opinions. This is so because an expert is subject to cross-examination about his or her opinions and additionally, the materials on which the expert bases his or her opinion are not elicited for the truth of their contents; they are examined to assess the weight of the expert's opinion." (Thomas, supra, 130 Cal.App.4th at p. 1210. See also People v. Blessett (2018) 22 Cal.App.5th 903, 958 (Blease, J., dissenting) [noting that after *Thomas*, every division of every district court of appeal to address the issue in a published decision concluded that gang expert basis evidence is not offered for its truth but only to evaluate the expert's opinion to defeat a confrontation clause challenge under *Crawford*].)

The U.S. Supreme Court was pressed to apply *Crawford* to DNA expert testimony in *Williams v. Illinois* (2012) 567 U.S. 50 [183 L.Ed.2d 89, 132 S.Ct. 2221]. *Williams* failed to produce a majority opinion; the plurality rejected the notion that the out-of-court statements were being offered for their

truth. The dissent, plus Justice Thomas, writing just for himself, believed the out-of-court statements were being offered for the truth. (*Williams*, 567 U.S. at p. 108.) But the *Williams* court was able to dispose of the case by finding the out-of-court statements were not testimonial, a finding Thomas supported.

Right after the high court decided *Williams*, this Court was pressed to apply *Crawford* to expert testimony in *People v. Dungo* (2012) 55 Cal.4th 608 and *People v. Lopez* (2012) 55 Cal.4th 569⁴, but this Court resolved those cases by finding the expert testimony in question did not involve testimonial hearsay. (*Dungo* at p. 619; *Lopez* at pp. 582-585.) The *Dungo* majority opinion did not address whether the basis testimony was being offered for the truth, but the *Lopez* majority said it was undisputed that the out-of-court statements were being offered for their truth. Nonetheless, because the statements were not testimonial in *Lopez*, they did not violate the confrontation clause. Thus, while *Lopez* could have addressed the "offered for the truth" question, it did not do so.⁵

Not until this Court decided Sanchez in 2016 did it explicitly hold that

⁴ This Court addressed a third confrontation clause case, *People v. Rutterschmidt* (2012) 55 Cal.4th 650, at the same time, but it resolved that case by declining to decide how the confrontation clause applied to the testimony in question and finding any error was harmless. (*Id.* at p. 661.)

⁵ Both the *Dungo* majority and Justice Chin's concurrence noted how difficult it was to make sense of the *Williams* opinions. (*Dungo*, *supra*, at pp. 618, 628.)

expert basis testimony is necessarily offered for the truth, which creates a confrontation clause issue. Under this Court's stare decisis holding in *Auto Equity Sales, Inc. v. Superior Court* (1962) 57 Cal.2d 450, 455, the San Bernardino Superior Court judge hearing Mr. Chavez's trial in 2013 had no right or power to sustain a confrontation clause objection to the gang expert's testimony.

Mr. Chavez is not alone in arguing any pre-Sanchez confrontation clause objection would have been overruled. The First Appellate District, Division Five, made the same finding in Conservatorship of K.W. (2017) 13 Cal.App.5th 1274, 1283 [failure to make objection at trial did not forfeit Sanchez claim on appeal where objection "would have been clearly, and correctly, overruled"]. (See also People v. Jeffrey G. (2017) 13 Cal.App.5th 501, 507 [First Appellate District, Division One]; People v. Iraheta (2017) 14 Cal.App.5th 1228, 1251-1252 [Second Appellate District, Division Three, finding objection to FI cards would have been futile]; People v. Meraz (2016) 6 Cal.App.5th 1162, 1170 fn. 7 [Second Appellate District, Division Eight, finding confrontation clause objection would have been futile].)

Had Mr. Chavez made a confrontation clause objection to the expert's testimony, the trial court would have been bound to overrule it. Any objection would have been meritless and, as such, futile. And because an objection

would have been futile, Mr. Chavez did not forfeit any rights by failing to make the objection in the first place.

The majority opinion in Blessett went to great lengths to explain why this Court's opinion in Sanchez was foreseeable and why that foreseeability required defense counsel to register a confrontation clause objection to the gang expert's testimony. (Blessett, supra, at pp. 928-936.) It pointed out that the Court of Appeal, First Appellate District, Division Five, had criticized Thomas in People v. Hill (2011) 191 Cal. App. 4th 1104, 1127-1137, and had commented, "There is some reason to believe that the California Supreme Court may be prepared to recognize the logical error in Gardeley and Thomas." (Hill at p. 1131 fn. 18.) The Blessett majority also noted out that Mercado, which rejected a confrontation clause challenge because the evidence in question was not testimonial, had identified Williams and Dungo as being willing to jettison the "not for the truth" reasoning. (Blessett at pp. 932-933.) Thus, the Blessett majority held, "Williams, Dungo and Mercado all point to the inescapable conclusion that the confrontation clause analysis had changed since Gardeley, Thomas and Hill, and that it was going to continue to change. . . . Trial counsel would not have borne an unreasonable burden by making the [confrontation clause] objection citing Crawford, Williams, Dungo and Mercado as appellate counsel did in the original briefing in this case before Sanchez was decided." (Ibid.)

The *Blessett* court recognized that the trial court would have been required to overrule the objection but nevertheless suggested that the futility objection should not apply based on an entirely novel basis, i.e., because the court might have altered its rulings on other issues in light of the objection:

Even if the trial court is bound to follow previous precedent, it may exercise its discretion differently when considering the implications of more recent developments in the decisional law. Here, this may have resulted in the trial court giving greater scrutiny to the number and nature of defendant's previous contacts related to the jury by the prosecution's gang expert. Moreover, making a specific objection to a specific body of evidence should result in the creation of a better record. And with a better record, a defendant's chances of prevailing on appeal may be enhanced on the issue of evidentiary error and on the determination of whether such error is harmless.

(People v. Blessett, supra, 22 Cal.App.5th at p. 936.)

The *Blessett* court also speculated that the prosecution might have changed its approach and that an objection could have encouraged the prosecutor to bring percipient witnesses to court to prove up the bases for the

expert's opinion. (*Blessett*, 22 Cal.App.5th at pp. 933-934.) Even if a confrontation clause objection could have led to these changes, it would not have required the prosecution to alter its tactics because the objection would have been overruled. Further, the purpose of the confrontation clause is not to improve the record on appeal. The purpose is to force accusing witnesses to face the defendant in open court. The trial court had no authority to force the prosecution to bring percipient witnesses to court to support the expert's opinion; any pre-*Sanchez* confrontation clause objection would not have changed that fact.

Evidence Code section 353 and the contemporaneous objection rule require litigants to make objections based on current controlling law and require courts to rule based on current controlling law. The current, controlling law at the time of Mr. Chavez's trial would have required the court to overrule any confrontation clause objection, rendering the objection meritless and futile. Nothing in either *Perez* or *Blessett* changes that fact.

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