In the Supreme Court of the State of California

SUPREME COURT FILED

DEC 1 2 2018

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

JOSE LUIS PEREZ, et al.,

Defendants and Appellants.

Case No. S248730 Deputy

Fourth Appellate District Division Two, Case No. E060438 San Bernardino County Superior Court, Case No. FVI901482 The Honorable John M. Tomberlin, Judge

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

XAVIER BECERRA
Attorney General of California
EDWARD C. DUMONT
Solicitor General
GERALD A. ENGLER
Chief Assistant Attorney General
MICHAEL R. JOHNSEN
JOSHUA PATASHNIK (SBN 295120)
Deputy Solicitors General
KRISTEN KINNAIRD CHENELIA

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

ARGUMENT

I. CALIFORNIA LAW REQUIRES A DEFENDANT TO RAISE AN OBJECTION AT TRIAL TO PRESERVE IT FOR APPEAL, UNLESS THE OBJECTION WOULD BE LEGALLY FUTILE

"[A] challenge to the admission of evidence is not preserved for appeal unless a specific and timely objection" is made at trial. (*People v. Anderson* (2001) 25 Cal.4th 543, 586.) This rule "stems from long-standing statutory and common law principles." (*Ibid.*) And it exists for good reason. Failure to raise an objection "deprives the trial court of the opportunity' to create a record and to 'correct potential error in the first instance." (*People v. Romero* (2015) 62 Cal.4th 1, 24.) "The requirement of a contemporaneous and specific objection ... furthers the interests of reliability and finality" (*People v. Holt* (1997) 15 Cal.4th 619, 657), as well as "proper development of the record and judicial economy" (*People v. Trujillo* (2015) 60 Cal.4th 850, 857). And where the law is unsettled, the contemporaneous-objection requirement also helps to advance the development of the law, by encouraging parties to raise unsettled issues for resolution by trial and appellate courts in concrete factual settings.

The rule is subject to a narrow exception: A defendant will not be deemed to have forfeited an objection if at the time of trial the objection "would have been futile or wholly unsupported by substantive law then in existence." (*Brooks*, *supra*, 3 Cal.5th at p. 92, quoting *People v. Welch* (1993) 5 Cal.4th 228, 237.) The exception applies only when, under existing precedent, the "trial court ... would have been bound to reject any argument" the defendant might make. (*Ibid.*) Defendants need not raise "fruitless objections" in "situations where [they] might hope that an established rule ... would be changed on appeal." (*Gallardo*, *supra*, 4 Cal.5th at p. 127, quoting *People v. Williams* (1976) 16 Cal.3d 663, 667, fn. 4). But an objection a defendant fails to make at trial is forfeited unless, at

the time of trial, the objection "clearly would have been futile" because "binding" precedent would have "required" the trial court to deny the objection. (*People v. Sandoval* (2007) 41 Cal.4th 825, 837, fn. 4; see also, *e.g.*, *People v. Powell* (2018) 6 Cal.5th 136, 179-180.)³

This Court has frequently emphasized the concept of foreseeability in articulating the standard for forfeiture. "[T]he relevant question is whether requiring defense counsel to raise an objection 'would place an unreasonable burden on defendants to anticipate unforeseen changes in the law." (People v. Rangel (2016) 62 Cal.4th 1192, 1217, quoting People v. Edwards (2013) 57 Cal.4th 658, 705; see also, e.g., Gallardo, supra, 4 Cal.5th at p. 127 [same, quoting Williams, supra, 16 Cal.3d at p. 667, fn. 4]; People v. Odom (1969) 71 Cal.2d 709, 717 [no forfeiture where "[t]he subsequent change in the law ... was both substantial and unforeseeable"]; People v. Bertoldo (1978) 77 Cal.App.3d 627, 631 [rejecting defendant's argument that amendment to California constitution after trial "represented such a substantial change in the former rule as to excuse an objection," quoting People v. DeSantiago (1969) 71 Cal.2d 18, 23].)

Chavez argues at length that the futility and foreseeability standards are distinct, and this Court should adopt the former rather than the latter. (See AOB 20-28.) But this Court has never suggested there is any difference between the two formulations, and it has used both concepts

³ California law differs on this point from that of the federal system and many other states, which follow the "plain error" rule in criminal cases. This rule is in one respect stricter and in one respect more forgiving than California law. The plain error rule requires a defendant to make *all* objections he or she wishes to preserve for appeal—regardless of whether they are futile under existing precedent—but (unlike in California) forfeited objections are still subject to review for error that is "plain" under the law as it exists at the time of appeal. (See, *e.g.*, *Henderson v. United States* (2013) 568 U.S. 266, 271.) This Court has rejected requests to adopt the plain error rule. (See, *e.g.*, *People v. Benavides* (2005) 35 Cal.4th 69, 115.)

alongside each other in articulating the relevant legal test. (See, *e.g.*, *Sandoval*, *supra*, 41 Cal.4th at p. 837, fn. 4; *People v. Chavez* (1980) 26 Cal.3d 334, 350, fn. 5; *Odom*, *supra*, 71 Cal.2d at p. 717.) Futility and foreseeability are two sides of the same coin. Where the law is sufficiently settled that an objection would be futile, any change to that law generally will not be foreseeable. Conversely, where the law is unsettled, it will generally be foreseeable that an issue might ultimately be resolved in the defendant's favor. (Cf. *People v. Hoyos* (2007) 41 Cal.4th 872, 890 [where law is "unsettled," a defendant is "on notice" that the law may be resolved in a particular way, and a judicial decision doing so is "neither 'unexpected' nor 'unforeseeable'"], overruled on other grounds by *People v. McKinnon* (2011) 52 Cal.4th 610, 641.) In that situation an objection would not be futile within the meaning of the forfeiture rule, and the objection is forfeited if not made in the trial court.

Where the governing law at the time of trial is unsettled—either because it has yet to be resolved or because new case law from a higher court has abrogated prior precedent—courts in California and other jurisdictions have held that defendants forfeited objections to evidence, closing arguments, or jury instructions by failing to raise them at trial. For instance, in *People v. Navarette* (2003) 30 Cal.4th 458, this Court held that

⁴ In rare instances, it might in some sense be foreseeable that a binding precedent still in effect at the time of trial is likely to be overruled or modified in the near future. Although this Court has not explicitly determined whether a defendant forfeits an objection by failing to raise it in that situation, it appears that a defendant ordinarily will not be deemed to have forfeited the objection, since the binding precedent would have rendered it futile at the time of trial. (*Post*, pp. 23-24.) Regardless, however, that is not the situation here. The law at the time of Chavez's trial would have permitted objections under both state evidence law and the Confrontation Clause. (*Post*, pp. 25-35.)

the defendant had forfeited an objection by not raising it at trial, even though "[a]t the time of defendant's trial, the law was unsettled." (*Id.* at p. 515; see also, *e.g.*, *People v. Andrade* (2015) 238 Cal.App.4th 1274, 1297 [objection forfeited where the governing law was "unsettled" and "not clear" at the time of trial]; *Cadena v. Pacesetter Corp.* (10th Cir. 2000) 224 F.3d 1203, 1212-1213 [holding that party was not excused from failure to object to jury instruction where case law was unsettled at time of trial but out-of-circuit and district court opinions "foreshadowed" later ruling]; *State v. Holder* (1987) 155 Ariz. 83, 86 [new precedent, while "a significant change in the law," was not "so novel ... as to excuse the defendant's failure to make a timely objection," in light of authorities that existed at time of trial]; *Marrone v. State* (Alaska App. 1982) 653 P.2d 672, 675 [objection forfeited where subsequent change in law was "sufficiently foreshadowed" by existing precedent].)

These cases are in accord with precedent from other contexts in which courts have refused to excuse parties' forfeiture of legal arguments or claims in light of unsettled law. As Judge Posner observed, where the law is unsettled, "a foreseeable change in law is (if it comes to pass) at best a weak ground for relieving a party of the consequences" of forfeiture.

(Hernandez v. Cowan (7th Cir. 2000) 200 F.3d 995, 997.) In Engle v. Isaac (1982) 456 U.S. 107, for example, the Supreme Court rejected a federal habeas petitioner's argument that the supposed novelty of a constitutional claim constituted cause for his counsel's failure to object at trial on that ground. (Id. at p. 133.) The Court reasoned that existing law had "laid the basis for the[] constitutional claim," so that it was "far from unknown at the time of [defendants'] trials." (Id. at p. 131; see also, e.g., Thompson v. State (Alaska 1972) 496 P.2d 651, 655-656 [refusing to excuse failure to raise argument where, at time of trial, relevant legal principle had been embraced by a majority of the Justices on the state supreme court, albeit in

separate opinions]; *Smiley v. Citibank (S.D.), N.A.* (C.D.Cal. 1993) 863 F.Supp. 1156, 1159 & fn. 5 [refusing to excuse party's failure to raise ground for removal to federal court in its notice of removal because "the fact that the law in this area is and was unsettled does not give Citibank the right to sit on its ... claim until some other court has decided the issue in its favor"].)

In a similar vein, this Court routinely rejects defendants' arguments that their failure to object at trial should be excused on futility grounds because of the trial court's prior evidentiary rulings. In these cases, this Court has reasoned that "[b]ecause an objection would not necessarily have been futile," the defendant's failure to object "forfeited the issue for appeal." (People v. Wilson (2008) 44 Cal.4th 758, 793; see also, e.g., People v. Linton (2013) 56 Cal.4th 1146, 1206 ["Nothing suggests an objection and request for admonition would have been futile, given that defense counsel made other objections, some of which the trial court sustained."]; People v. Blacksher (2011) 52 Cal.4th 769, 823; People v. Thompson (2010) 49 Cal.4th 79, 130; People v. Bonilla (2007) 41 Cal.4th 313, 355-356.) Just as the defendants in these cases were obligated to raise their objections at trial because the grounds for them were legally available (that is, reasonably foreseeable and not foreclosed by existing law) at the time, here the state of the law at trial made it at least possible that an objection under state evidence law or the Confrontation Clause would succeed. Chavez was therefore required to make those objections in order to preserve them for appeal.

Chavez cites several cases in which this Court has excused a defendant's failure to raise an objection (AOB 21-25), but none of those cases involved a situation, like this one, in which the objection in question was legally available at the time of trial:

- In *People v. Kitchens* (1956) 46 Cal.2d 260, this Court held that a defendant did not forfeit an objection that unlawfully obtained evidence should have been excluded, because at the time of trial "the trial court was bound by the earlier decisions of this court that illegally obtained evidence was admissible." (*Id.* at p. 262.)
- In *People v. DeSantiago* (*supra*, 71 Cal.2d 18), this Court held that a defendant did not forfeit an objection that evidence obtained in violation of a knock-and-notice statute should be excluded. The Court reasoned that before its ruling in *People v. Gastelo* (1967) 67 Cal.2d 586, "competent and knowledgeable defense counsel ... could only have concluded" that no such objection was available, while *Gastelo*, which was decided after the defendant's trial, "held precisely to the contrary." (*DeSantiago*, *supra*, 71 Cal.2d at p. 27.)
- In *People v. Black* (2007) 41 Cal.4th 799, this Court held that the U.S. Supreme Court's ruling in *Blakely v. Washington* (2004) 542 U.S. 296, had "worked a sea change in the body of sentencing law" such that "competent and knowledgeable counsel" could not "reasonably ... have been expected to have anticipated" the grounds for the defendant's objection at a pre-*Blakely* trial. (*Black*, *supra*, 41 Cal.4th at p. 812.)
- In People v. Edwards (supra, 57 Cal.4th 658) and People v. Rangel (supra, 62 Cal.4th 1192), this Court held that a defendant did not forfeit an objection based on Crawford v. Washington (2004) 541 U.S. 36 by failing to raise it at a trial that occurred before that decision, because "the Crawford rule is flatly inconsistent with the prior governing precedent ...

- which *Crawford* overruled." (*Rangel*, supra, 62 Cal.4th at p. 1215, quoting *Whorton v. Bockting* (2007) 549 U.S. 406, 416.)
- In *People v. Gallardo* (*supra*, 4 Cal.5th 120), this Court determined that it "need not resolve" whether the defendant had forfeited his objection, because the People had forfeited the ability to rely on the forfeiture bar by not raising it in the Court of Appeal. (*Id.* at p. 128.) Moreover, "at the time defendant was sentenced, California law allowed" the practice to which the defendant later sought to object. (*Id.* at pp. 127-128.)

In all of these cases, the law at the time of trial squarely foreclosed the objection at issue, so that raising it would have been legally futile. That is consistent with the rule, discussed above, that where an objection would *not* be legally futile under the law as it exists at the time of trial, the defendant is obligated to make the objection at trial in order for it to remain available on appeal.

II. AN OBJECTION TO THE EXPERT TESTIMONY IN THIS CASE ON HEARSAY OR CONFRONTATION CLAUSE GROUNDS WOULD NOT HAVE BEEN LEGALLY FUTILE

Chavez's argument for reversal of his conviction is that Officer Moran related to the jury case-specific, testimonial out-of-court statements of other individuals to prove the truth of those statements, in violation of the rule set forth in *Sanchez*. He argues that Moran's testimony improperly "conveyed hearsay to jurors about the cartel's activities and purposes." (AOB 8.) But at the time of Chavez's trial in October 2013, this argument could have been the basis for an objection under either California evidence law or the Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment. Chavez could have objected under the Evidence Code because California courts often excluded case-specific expert hearsay testimony if the courts agreed that

juries would likely view the testimony as being admitted for its truth. And Chavez could have objected under the Confrontation Clause because the law was unsettled at the time of his trial and recent precedent from the U.S. Supreme Court and from this Court would have supported the objection. Because Chavez raised no objection on either ground, the Court of Appeal correctly held that he forfeited both objections.

A. California Evidence Law

Chavez has argued that Moran engaged in impermissible "parroting"—that is, "attempt[ing] to launder garden-variety hearsay to make it admissible as the basis for an expert opinion." (Petition for Review at pp. 17-18.) For reasons discussed below (*post*, pp. 41-45), Moran's testimony did not violate either hearsay law or the Confrontation Clause. But if the facts would have supported it, the "parroting" objection Chavez seeks to raise now would not have been futile at trial for purposes of the forfeiture rule. California courts have long restricted expert witnesses from "serv[ing] as a mere conduit for the admission of otherwise inadmissible hearsay." (*I-CA Enters., Inc. v. Palram Americas, Inc.* (2015) 235 Cal.App.4th 257, 286.)

While Sanchez placed further restrictions on expert testimony reflecting case-specific hearsay, litigants previously could, and often did, successfully seek to exclude testimony by an expert that would have impermissibly related case-specific hearsay to juries, relying both on the hearsay rule and on section 352 of the Evidence Code. Before Sanchez, this Court had held that "[w]hile an expert may state on direct examination the matters on which he relied in forming his opinion, he may not testify as to the details of such matters if they are otherwise inadmissible." (People v. Coleman (1985) 38 Cal.3d 69, 92; accord People v. Montiel (1993) 5

Cal.4th 877, 918-919.)⁵ "The rule rests on the rationale that while an expert may give reasons on direct examination for his opinions, including the matters he considered in forming them, he may not under the guise of reasons bring before the jury incompetent hearsay evidence." (*Coleman*, 38 Cal.3d at p. 92; see also *Sanchez*, *supra*, 63 Cal.4th at p. 679 [same].)

California courts often applied these principles to bar expert witnesses from relating case-specific hearsay to jurors. For instance, in *People v. Bell* (2007) 40 Cal.4th 582, this Court affirmed a trial court's ruling preventing a defense psychologist from testifying regarding certain out-of-court statements of the defendant. (*Id.* at p. 607.) The Court reasoned that while the statements technically were not offered for their truth, the trial court acted within its discretion in excluding them because "for the jury to separate their proper and improper uses would have been difficult." (*Id.* at p. 609.)⁶

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